IN THE SUPRE	ME COURT OF FLORIDA
	ALK 10 (90)
	CLERK, SUPREIVE COURT
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION	* ByChief Deputy Clerk
Appellant,	*
VS.	CASE NO. 66,770
CECIL DURDEN, et al.,	
Appellees.	*
	*
ADDELTANG C INT	FIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS
DEPARTMENT	OF TRANSPORTATION
	ALAN E. DeSERIO
	MAXINE F. FERGUSON
	Appellate Attorneys PHILIP S. BENNETT
	Trial Attorney
	A. J. SPALLA
	A. J. SPALLA General Counsel
	General Counsel Department of Transportation
	General Counsel Department of Transportation Haydon Burns Building, MS 58 605 Suwannee Street
	General Counsel Department of Transportation Haydon Burns Building, MS 58 605 Suwannee Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For the purposes of this brief, the following symbols will be utilized:

"R" refers to the Record on Appeal.

ļ

Ì

ŀ

"A" refers to the Appendix accompanying this brief.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

During July and August, 1984, the Appellees, Durden and constructed outdoor advertising signs adjacent Stone, to Interstate 10 in Jackson County, Florida. The Record establishes, without contradiction, that at the the time Appellee's erected the signs, they knew that a permit was required in order for the sign to be legal; that they never applied for such a permit; that they were told by personnel of the Department that no signs would be permitted in the area where the sign was erected; and that they knew that what they were doing was contrary to the law. (R: 176, 182-183, 185) (A: 2-5)

Plaintiffs received notices of violations dated August (Durden), and August 17, 1984 (Stone), for outdoor 10, 1984 advertising signs owned by Plaintiffs located along I-10 in Jackson County, along with notification of the right to a 120.57 These signs were cited for violation of Section hearing. 479.11(1), Fla. Stat. (1983), and Fla. Admin. Code Rule 14-10.05(6), unpermittable zoning, and Section 479.07(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1984), no state sign permit. On January 4, 1985, the Department posted the sign faces with a notice pursuant to Section 479.105(1)(a), stating that the sign was illegal and would be removed thirty (30) days after posting. In addition to the sign posting, the Department provided written notice to the Plaintiffs by certified mail. The notices were received by Mr. Durden on January 5, 1985, and Mr. Stone on January 7, 1985.

After receiving the August, 1984, notice, both Plaintiffs requested a hearing pursuant to Section 120.57, Fla. Stat., and the hearing was held on January 15, 1985, in Chipley, Florida. A recommended order was issued on March 27, 1985. Such order recommended that the Department remove the subject signs as such were found to be signs unpermitted and thus in violation of Section 479.07(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1984). A Final Order has not yet been entered.

In the Complaint for Injunctive and Declaratory Relief, the Plaintiffs challenged the constitutionality of that portion of Section 479.105 which allowed the removal of illegal advertising signs within thirty (30) days of posting of the notice of violation even if an administrative hearing had been requested. (R: 1-8)

A hearing was held on the request for a preliminary injunction. After consideration of the evidence offered, the trial court denied the request citing the presumption of constitutionality; the fact that the Appellee's ignored the permitting process; and the insufficient showing of irreparable harm. (R: 193)

At the hearing for final injunctive relief, a stipulated statement of facts was submitted to the court. (R: 197-207) (A: 6-7) No additional evidence was offered by the Appellees. While the Appellees had alleged numerous constitutional violations in their complaint for injunctive relief, at the final hearing Appellees chose to limit their case to only two of the constitutional objections raised. (R: 305)

After consideration of the testimony submitted, the Memorandum of Law submitted by the parties, and argument of counsel, the lower court entered an order declaring the entire provision of Section 479.105, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1984), as unconstitutional on its face and as applied to the Plaintiffs because it violated the procedural due process requirements of Art. I, Sec. 9, Fla. Constitution, and the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. (R: 277-278) (A: 8-9)

By Motion for Rehearing and Clarification (R: 281-284) (A: 10-11), the Department sought to point out to the lower court that only a portion of Section 479.105(1)(a) needed to be declared invalid in order to give effect to the constitutional challenge made by the Plaintiffs. It was maintained that the court need not declare the entire provision invalid and that if the court did not amend the order it would have the effect of denying the Department any recourse against unpermitted signs.

After hearing on the motion, the trial court declined to alter its order except to the extent that the order would not affect that portion of the statutory provision relating to cease work orders. (R: 355-356) (A: 12-13)

The Department timely appealed the amended order of the lower court. On March 25, 1985, the District Court of Appeal, First District, certified this appeal as one which required immediate resolution by the Florida Supreme Court. (R: 358) Jurisdiction was exercised by the Supreme Court on March 27, 1985. (R: 359)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In order to partake of the constitutional protection afforded under procedural due process it must be established that a deprivation of an interest encompassed within the Fourteenth Amendment's protection of liberty and property is at issue. There is no such liberty or property right involved when the government seeks to remove an outdoor advertising structure that was knowingly erected in complete disregard of the law and the established scheme of securing permits for such structures. The mere expectancy of the possibility of obtaining a permit does not give rise to a property interest protected by procedural due process standards.

Evaluation of the factors and justifications involved in identifying the specific dictates of due process, specifically the government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional requirements would entail, the private interest procedural deprivation through affected, the risk of erroneous the used, and the availability of post-deprivation procedures hearings, conclusively show that Appellees' procedural due process rights were not violated.

Thus, legislation which allows the removal of a non-permitted outdoor advertising structure after notice but prior to an administrative hearing is a valid exercise of the legislative power and is not in violation of procedural due process standards. Whatever "right" the owner of an unpermitted

sign may have, it is adequately protected by a post-take down administrative hearing and the availability of re-erection of the sign or payment of just compensation.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLEES HAVE NOT BEEN DEPRIVED OF ANY PROPERTY INTEREST ENCOMPASSED IN THE PROTECTION OF DUE PROCESS.

It is well established constitutional law that before a property interest can be taken from a person by governmental action, that person is to be afforded adequate notice and a fair hearing. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976). To establish a procedural due process claim, a person must show that he has been deprived of a protected liberty or property interest encompassed in the due process clause. Garcia v. U.S., 666 F.2d 960 (5th Cir. 1982), cert. 459 U.S. 832, 103 S.Ct. 73, 74 L.Ed.2d 72. In this case denied, Appellees have not established that the actions of the Department of Transportation, have deprived them of any liberty or property right encompassed within the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution or Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution's protection.

The existence of a legitimate property or liberty interest is prerequisite to an examination of whether governmental action is violative of the due process clause. <u>Thurston v. Dekle</u>, 531 F.2d 1264 (5th Cir. 1976), vacated 98 S.Ct. 3118, 438 U.S. 901, 57 L.Ed.2d 1144, on remand 578 F.2d 1167. Although the due process protection for deprivation of liberty extends beyond physical restraints and the property

interests protected extend well beyond the actual ownership of tangible property, the range of interests protected by procedural due process is not infinite. <u>Board of Regents of State Colleges</u> v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972).

A leading decision discussing what constitutes a right within the meaning of the due process clause is <u>Board of Regents</u> <u>of State Colleges v. Roth, supra.</u> In <u>Roth</u>, the Supreme Court held:

> [t]o have a property interest in a benefit, a person clearly must have more than an abstract need or desire for it. He must have more than a unilateral expectation of it. He must, instead, have a legitimate claim of entitlement to it . . . Property interests . . are created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits. 408 U.S. at 578, 33 L.Ed.2d at 561.

In the instant case, it is unclear exactly what property interest is being taken from the Appellees. The Appellees have not been deprived of their right to engage in an occupation nor have they been deprived of any tangible aspect of their business. removal of the sign structures themselves are not а The deprivation as the Appellees are given an opportunity to remove the structure. Further, should the Department and retain ultimately remove the sign, there is nothing to prohibit the Appellees from claiming the material components of the structure held by the Department. The lost profits and business damages possibly suffered by the Appellees due to the lack of opportunity advertise their businesses to the motoring public does not to

constitute "property" in the constitutional sense. Florida See: Power and Light Company v. First National Bank and Trust Company Riviera Beach, 448 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Nor do of Appellees hold any property right in the expectancy of receiving an outdoor advertising permit as Appellees never applied for such permit nor did they establish that they had complied with the statutory requirements to have a permit issued. (R: 176, 182-183, 185) v. Behringer, 593 See: PICA Services, Inc. F.Supp. 113 (S.D.Fla. 1984).

Thus, there is no conventional property interest of Appellees being taken by the Department's action. What is being affected is the Appellees' asserted right to continue "using the highway" to transmit advertising messages to motorists. Walker <u>v. State, Department of Transportation, 366 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1st</u> DCA 1979), concurring opinion, p. 102; <u>Moore v. Ward, 377 S.W.2d</u> 881 (Ken.Ct.App. 1964); <u>Ghaster Properties, Inc. v. Preston, 200</u> N.W.1s 328 (Ohio 1964). As noted in <u>Ghaster</u>:

> . . . the plaintiffs are not exercising a natural right . . . they are seizing for private benefit an opportunity created for a quite different purpose by the expenditure of public money in the construction of public ways . . . The right asserted is not to own and use land or property, to live, to work, or to trade . . . its main feature is the superadded claim to use private land as a vantage ground from which to obtrude upon all the public traveling upon highways, indifferent, hostile whether reluctant, or interested, an inescapable propaganda concerning private business with the ultimate design of promoting patronage of those advertising. Id. at 334.

No evidence was presented by Appellees which would elevate this "superadded claim" to the status of a property interest within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Also to be considered when reviewing the Appellees' alleged interference with a right to use the highway to transmit an advertising message, is the fact that the signs were erected adjacent to an interstate limited access facility, I-10. This court has reviewed a sufficient number of eminent domain cases to take judicial notice of the fact that when a limited access facility is to be constructed, the condemnor acquires not only a fee simple interest in the property, but also all rights of air, light, and view. See: <u>State Road Department v. Southland</u>, Inc., 117 So.2d 512, 518 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960), <u>cert. denied</u> 122 So.2d 407.

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 479.07(2)(b) (Supp. 1984), the permit application must be accompanied by a written statement that the person erecting the sign has the authorization of the landowner to do so. In this cause neither the pleadings, nor the testimony offered at either hearing established such permission had been granted. But, assuming permission was granted and a sign site was leased by Appellees, the owner of the property could convey no more right interest than that which he held at the time of the lease. or Since limited access, along with all rights of air, light and view were acquired, the landowner could not convey any right of view to the roadway.

It was incumbent upon the Appellees to establish not only that they had the permission of the landowner to erect the sign, but also that the landowner still retained a right of view that could be conveyed to the Appellee. Neither criteria were met by Appellees in the proceedings below.

The Appellees have failed to establish that even a semblance of a property right ever existed. The lower court therefore erred in declaring Section 479.105, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1984), unconstitutional in that said section violated the constitutional guarantee of procedural due process of law since Appellees never established that they were deprived of a legitimate property or liberty interest within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment.

POINT II

THIS CAUSE JUSTIFY FACTORS PRESENT IN FROM THE REQUIREMENT DEPARTURE OF Α SUPPORT THE PREDEPRIVATION HEARING AND LEGISLATIVE DETERMINATION OF SUMMARY UNPERMITTED SIGNS PRIOR TO REMOVAL OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.

Assuming that Appellees have been deprived of а legitimate Fourteenth Amendment property interest, the specific dictates of due process must be identified as due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. Memphis Light, Gas and Water Division v. Craft, 436 U.S. 1, 98 S.Ct. 1554, 56 L.Ed.2d 30 (1978); Smith v. Organization of Foster Families, 431 U.S. 816, 97 S.Ct. 2094, 53 L.Ed.2d 14 (1977). As a general rule, an individual must be afforded an opportunity for a hearing before is deprived of a significant property interest. However, he there is an exception to this rule which, in certain situations, legitimizes the immediate seizure of property. In determining whether the summary administrative action falls within this exception, the courts have scrutinized several distinct factors and justifications.

A. Importance of underlying government interest.

Summary administrative actions by a governmental entity have been held proper in many cases after assessment of the validity and importance of the underlying government interest. <u>Hodel v. Virginia Surface Mining and Reclamation Assoc.</u>, 452 U.S. 264, 101 S.Ct. 2352, 69 L.Ed.2d 1 (1981); Mackey v. Montrym, 443

U.S. 1, 99 S.Ct. 2612, 61 L.Ed.2d 321 (1979); Memphis Light, Gas and Water Division v. Craft, supra; Dixon v. Love, 431 U.S. 105, 97 S.Ct. 1723, 52 L.Ed.2d 172 (1977); Lawton v. Steele, 152 U.S. 133, 14 S.Ct. 499, 38 L.Ed. 385 (1894); Denny v. Conner, 426 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Larson v. Warren, 132 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1961); State Plant Board v. Smith, 110 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1959).

The validity of Florida's regulation of outdoor advertising is well established. Elliot Advertising Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 425 F.2d 1141 (5th Cir. 1970); Hav-a-Tampa Cigar Co. v. Johnson, 149 Fla. 148, 5 So.2d 443 (1941); John H. Swisher and Son v. Johnson, 149 Fla. 148, 5 So.2d (1941). Florida's interest in promoting highway safety has 441 long been recognized as a basis for the regulation of outdoor advertising. The U.S. Fifth Circuit Court in Elliot Advertising Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County, supra, stated:

> The essential purpose of an advertising sign placed adjacent to a highway is to attract the attention of the motoring public long enough to convey a commercial message . . the speed and density of modern expressway traffic, coupled with the braking limitations of the modern automobile, can conceivably make even the most insignificant amount of time during which a driver's attention is diverted a matter of direct consequences. Id. at 1152.

In an attempt to safely present information to the traveling public, the State of Florida enacted Chapter 479 as a valid exercise of its police power. Under Chapter 479, permits are required for all off premise signs in order to effectively

control the erection and maintenance of signs especially in requiring that signs are located in the appropriate areas. In fact, those signs without permits are deemed by the Legislature to be public and private nuisances. Section 479.105(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1984).

In addition to highway safety, the need to protect revenue may justify summary administration action. <u>Commissioner</u> <u>v. Shapiro</u>, 424 U.S. 614, 98 S.Ct. 1062, 47 L.Ed.2d 278 (1976). By agreement with the United States Department of Transportation, dated January 27, 1972, the State of Florida was charged with "effectively controlling" the erection and maintenance of outdoor advertising signs. In a review of Chapter 479 conducted by the staff of the Senate Committee on Transportation (Feb. 1984), hereinafter referred to as Report (R: 208-242) (A: 14-49), the need for effective control was stressed:

> In view of the sanction of loss of ten percent of appropriated federal-aid highway funds for non-compliance with federal outdoor advertising control law, it is imperative that the department take swift action to effect immediate and continuing compliance with federal requirements. (R: 231) (A: 37)

The <u>Report</u> specifically addressed the issue of unpermitted signs:

With regard to signs erected without having obtained the required permit from the department, enforcement is not presently adequate, and that the law should be amended to provide for removal of these signs after notice to the sign owner. (R: 233) (A: 40)

The public interest in avoiding the loss of ten percent of federal highway funding should be an influencing factor in determining that the summary removal of an illegal sign is constitutional.

Another important governmental interest is the need to maintain administrative efficiency. In Dixon v. Love, 431 U.S. 105, 97 S.Ct. 1723, 52 L.Ed.2d 172 (1977), the U.S. Supreme Court held that a state's interest in administrative efficiency was an important factor in determining that the initial decision to suspend a driver's license without a predecision hearing did not violate procedural due process. Were a predeprivation hearing required in the instant case, the only issue that would be determined is whether or not the subject sign was permitted. However, existing forums do not provide a satisfactory method adaptable to the present case. Further, the procedural constraints and probable delay involved in seeking a predeprivation formal judicial hearing is out of proportion to the relatively simple factual determination to be made. The findings in the Report show that of the over 500 requests for administrative hearings during a five year period involving outdoor advertising signs, 99 percent of those hearings relate to signs whose owners have not applied for and obtained permits as required by law. The Report further states:

> proceedings cases, circuit court In many intertwined with the administrative process and subsequent appeals result in several years of litigation. During thependancy of these proceedings, the sign, even though never having been issued a permit remains standing. (R: 232) (A: 38)

Thus, to create an additional forum for the sole purpose of determining whether or not a sign has been permitted would only create another level of bureaucracy resulting in reduced administrative efficiency.

Another persuasive consideration for sustaining the enactment of the summary proceeding is the fact that at least twenty-five other states have enacted similar legislation. See: Ala. Code, Section 23-1-278; Alaska Stat., Section 19.25.150; Ark. Stat. Ann., Section 76-2512; Calif. Bus. and Prof. Code, Section 5462; Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. Tit. 13A, Section 123(i); Del. Code Ann. Tit. 17, Section III; Ill. Ann. Stat. Ch. 121, Section 510(10); Iowa Code Ann., Section 306c.19; Maine Rev. Stat. Ann. Tit. 68, Section 2240; Md. Transp. Code Tit. 2, Section 8-748; Mich. Stat. Ann., Section 252.319(5); Minn. Stat. Ann., Section 173.13(11); Nev. Rev. Stat. tit. 35, Section 410.360; N.C. Gen. Stat. Ch. 136, Sec. 136-134; N.E. Cent. Code, Section 24-17-11; Ohio Rev. Code Ann. Tit. 55, Section 5516.12; Okla. Stat. Ann. Tit. 69, Section 1280(d); Pa. Stat. Ann. Tit. 36, Section 2718.110; R.I. Gen. Laws, Section 24-10.1-7; S.C. Code Ch. 25, Section 57-25-180; S.D. Codified Laws Ann., ch. 31-29-63.1; Tenn. Code Ann. Tit 54-21-105; Vt. Stat. Ann. Tit. 10, Section 497(b); Va. Code, Section 33.1-375; Wash. Rev. Code Ann., Section 47.42.080; Wis. Stat. Ann., Section 84.30(1).

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