0/a 5-10-85

FILED
STD J. WHITE
APR 22 1985

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORI SAERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Appellant,

-vs-

CASE NO. 66,770

CECIL DURDEN, et al.,

Appellees.

APPELLEES 'ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES M. WYNN
P. O. BOX 793
MARIANNA, FLA. 32446
904-526-3520

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Count I of the Appellees´ Complaint is solely concerned with the pre-hearing takedown provisions of Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes. Subsections (1) and (3) of Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes violates Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution on its face and as applied to the Appellees. These subsections deny the Appellees due process as an opportunity to be heard prior to a destruction of their signs is not provided for notwithstanding any pending hearing pursuant to Chapter 120.57, Florida Statutes.

The DEPARTMENT cannot provide prehearing safeguards if their prehearing determination is based solely upon their construction of the law concerning the issuance of permits and it is subsequently determined that the DEPARTMENT is improperly construing and applying the the law. An assurance of future compensation makes a mockery of the summary removal provision of the Act when there is no legislative funding to provide compensation in the event of an erroneous destruction of property by the DEPARTMENT.

There is no logical separation of the integral component parts of Chapter 479.105 to allow the striking of offending language within the law. The suggestion of the DEPARTMENT to strike portions of the law will necessitate this Court rewriting the law.

The property interest of the Appellees consists of their interests of the materials in the signs which the DEPARTMENT

seeks to summarily destroy. The property interests of the Appellees in any permits to be issued or their property interests in the right to advertise are subject to a determination of Count II of their complaint which is not before this Court.

The DEPARTMENT should not be allowed to complain that the Appellees have not proved their entitlement to permits as a condition precedent to the determination of the constitutionality of Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes, when the DEPARTMENT consented to the bifurcation of the trial court proceedings.

Should the Court strike portions of Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes, as now suggested by the DEPARTMENT, the language as striken should provide the same final effect as the relief granted by the Trial Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER APPELLEES HAVE BEEN DEPRIVED OF ANY PROPERTY INTEREST ENCOMPASSED IN THE PROTECTION OF DUE PROCESS.

It is undisputed by the parties that before a property interest can be taken from a person by governmental action, that person is to be afforded adequate notice and a fair hearing.

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976).

The DEPARTMENT seeks the power to summarily remove and destroy private property prior to and regardless of a pending Chapter 120.57, Florida Statutes, administrative hearing which would determine the legality or permitablity of a sign.

The DEPARTMENT intends to summarily remove all signs they post pursuant to Chapter 479.105, unless they are enjoined. (R: 158) Kenneth Michael Towcimak, Chief of the Bureau of Right of Way (R: 290) testified that Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes, mandated removal of signs that were posted (R: 294) and that the Department possessed no discretion in implementing Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes. (R: 295) He further testified that there is nothing in the "Notice" which is posted on a sign that advises a sign owner that he may apply for a permit to prevent removal of his sign. (R: 296)

Appellees do not disagree with this Court's ruling in LaPoint Outdoor Advertising v. Fla. Dept., Etc., 398 So2d 1370, (Fla. 1981) which provides that no compensation shall be paid to nonconforming, unlawfully erected billboards. Appellees, DURDEN

and STONE, contend their signs should not be summarily removed and destroyed prior to a determination that their signs are nonconforming or unlawfully erected. Both the Federal courts and the courts of this state have summarily rejected the concept that private citizens may be deprived of property without prior notice and an opportunity to be heard. E.g., Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67 (1972); Davis v. City of South Bay, 433 So2d 1364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

Whether a sign owner has a property interest in the materials used in the construction of his sign is separate and apart from whether he is to be compensated for those materials if his sign was erroneously erected. The DEPARTMENT has not asserted that the sign owners (APPELLEES) do not have a property interest in their sign materials.

The Department relies on <u>Board of Regents of State Colleges</u>
<u>v. Roth</u>, 408 U.S. 564, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972)
which concerns due process in relation to property rights "in a benefit". We are concerned here with the ownership interest of private property, the use of which is controlled or restricted by the legitimate exercise of the police power of the state.

The <u>only</u> instances in which the taking of private property through the police power without the grant of a prior hearing have been upheld are when justified by a compelling public interest deriving from a threat to the public health, safety or morals. <u>See, e.g., State Plant Board v. Smith, 110 So2d 401, 406-407, (Fla. 1959); <u>Larson v. Warren, 132 So2d 177 (Fla. 1961); Denney v. Conner, 426 So2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). No such threat is presented here. (R: 170-171) Indeed, the First</u></u>

District Court of Appeal specifically held in <u>Walker v. DOT</u>, 366 So2d 96 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) that "the public good contemplated by the Highway Beautification Act is <u>not</u> superior to the right of a citizen to own private property and to be treated fairly by his government with respect to that property." <u>Id</u>. at 100. Absent a "compelling interest" of the type described above, the Courts have "traditionally insisted that, whatever its form, opportunity for that hearing must be provided before the deprivation at issue takes place" (the <u>form</u> of the hearing being dependent upon the importance of the interests involved and the nature of subsequent proceedings, if any). <u>Fuentes v. Shevin</u>, supra. at p. 82.

As stated in Appellees' Statement of the Case and Facts the issue before the Court is solely the constitutionality of Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes. The DEPARTMENT should not be allowed to complain that DURDEN and STONE have not established a property interest in the issuance of a permit for their signs when the DEPARTMENT consented to the bifurcation of the trial court proceedings and Count II of the Appellees' case has not been litigated in the trial court.

POINT II

WHETHER THERE ARE FACTORS PRESENT IN THIS CAUSE TO JUSTIFY A DEPARTURE FROM THE REQUIREMENT OF PREDEPRIVATION HEARING AND WHETHER THE LEGISLATURE MADE A DETERMINATION FOR SUMMARY REMOVAL OF UNPERMITTED SIGNS PRIOR TO AN ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.

The DEPARTMENT mistakenly relies on the <u>Report</u> prepared by the Senate Committee on Transportation (Feb. 1984), portions of which are attached to the Department's Brief. The language relied upon by the Department states:

With regard to signs erected without having obtained the required permit from the department, enforcement is not presently adequate, and that the law should be amended to provide for removal of these signs after notice to the sign owner. (R: 233)

The above language does not state that removal should be in violation of the due process clauses of the State and Federal Constitutions nor does the Report set forth the method adopted in Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes. It is therefore inappropriate to assume the Report sanctions the statutory scheme employed in Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes.

The DEPARTMENT suggests that the need to protect revenue may justify summary administration action and relies on Commissioner v. Shapiro, 424 U.S. 614, 98 S.Ct. 1062, 47 L.Ed.2d 278 (1976). Reliance on Commissioner v. Shapiro, is misplaced. Commissioner v. Shapiro, involves a summary seizure of bank account funds for unpaid taxes. The Supreme Court allowed the tax payer to continue with his suit for injunctive relief to determine the validity of the assessment.

Appellees agree that the DEPARTMENT is charged with

"effectively controlling" the erection and maintenance of outdoor advertising signs pursuant to the agreement with the United States Department of Transportation. The agreement is incorporated in Rule 14-10. Rule 14-10 does not provide for the summary predetermination removal of outdoor advertising signs. Therefore, this power is not contemplated in the agreement and the lack of any such power will not frustrate the DEPARTMENT'S ability to "effectively control" outdoor advertising signs under the scope of its agreement.

The cases relied upon by the DEPARTMENT for immediate seizure of property are misplaced. Hodel v. Virginia Surface Mining and Reclamation Assoc., 452 U.S. 264, 101 S.Ct. 2352, 69 L.Ed.2d l (1981) approves stop work orders on surface mining and the statute involved provided for a five day time period for a request for relief from the order. Chapter 479.105 (2), Florida Statutes, encompasses stop work orders and the constitutionality of this section is not before the Court.

Mackey v. Montrym, 443 U.S. 1, 99 S.Ct. 2612, 61 L.Ed.2d 321 (1979) involves a states interest in public safety for driver license suspensions for failure to take a DWI breathalizer test. The statute provided for an immediate post taking hearing.

Memphis Light, Gas and Water Division v. Craft, 436 U.S. 1, 98 S.Ct. 1554, 56 L.Ed.2d 30 (1978) the Supreme Court determined that under Tennessee law, utility service constituted a property right and it could not be terminated without a pretermination hearing.

Lawton v. Steele, 152 U.S. 133, 14 S.Ct. 499, 38 L.Ed. 385 (1894) involved the regulation of fishing by banning the use of certain fish nets. A violation of the act constituted a criminal offense and the Court reasoned the destruction of the criminal agency is not a violation of due process. Chapter 479, Florida Statutes, (1984) is not a penal statute.

Denny v. Conner, 426 So2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) approves the summary destruction of fruit trees infested and/or exposed to citrus fruit canker and the destruction was necessary to prevent the spread of the disease. The situation was urgent to protect the public health.

<u>Larson v. Warren</u>, 132 So2d 177 (Fla. 1961) concerns the revocation of a driving privilege not a property right.

State Plant Board v. Smith, 110 So2d 401 (Fla. 1959) involves a destruction of property where there is an obvious and immediate danger to public health, safety, or welfare to prevent the spread of citrus disease.

None of the above urgent situations are before the Court and there is no immediate threat to the publics health, safety or welfare. (R: 170-171)

The DEPARTMENT argues that an aggrieved party may be compensated if it is subsequently determined that the destruction of the Appellees' property was erroneous. Such a position holds no weight when there is no funding provision for such compensation (R: 303), there is no statutory procedure for the awarding of any compensation (R: 301), and the DEPARTMENT further admits there is no legislative authorization for the use of right of way funds to pay just compensation pursuant to

Chapter 479.105, Florida Statutes. (R: 302-303)

The DEPARTMENT insists that if it is found to be wrong in its prehearing destruction of property that it will undo the wrong through compensation or reerecting the sign. The United States Supreme Court has previously held: "This Court has not..embraced the general proposition that a wrong may be done if it can be undone." Fuentes v. Shevin, supra., at page 82.

Therefore there are no factors of public emergency necessary for the Court to allow a departure from the Constitutional requirement of a predeprivation hearing.

POINT III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING DOWN THE ENTIRE PROVISION OF CHAPTER 479.105, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND WHETHER THE STATUTORY LANGUAGE IS SEVERABLE FROM THE REMAINDER OF THE PROVISION.

Appellees are in agreement with the DEPARTMENT that the law forth by this Court in Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. Department 455 So2d 311 (Fla. 1984) is controlling. of Revenue, We find ourselves at difference on how the law should be applied to the statute. It is Appellees' position and that of the trial court there can be no severance of the invalid parts which would leave the remaining portion of the law complete without Court rewriting the statute. Therefore, the law must be declared unconstitutional. Eastern Airlines, supra.

Chapter 479.105 (1), Florida Statutes, (1984) provides:

- (1) Any sign which is located adjacent to the right-of-way of any highway on the State Highway System outside an incorporated area or adjacent to the right-of-way on any portion of the interstate or federal-aid primary highway system, which sign was erected, operated, or maintained without the permit required by s. 479.07(1) having been issued by the department, is declared to be a public nuisance and a private nuisance and shall be removed as provided in this section.
- Upon a determination by the department that a sign in violation of s. 479.107(1), the department shall prominently post on the sign face a notice stating that the sign is illegal and must be removed within 30 days after the date on which the notice was posted. if the However, sign bears the name of the licensee or the name and address of the nonlicensed sign owner, the department shall, concurrently with and in addition to posting the notice on the sign, provide a written notice to the owner, stating the sign is illegal and must be permanently removed within the 30-day period specified on the posted notice. written notice shall further state that the sign owner a right to request a hearing, which request must be filed with the department within 30 days after the date of the written notice. However, the filing of a request for a hearing will not stay the removal of the sign.

- (b) If, <u>pursuant</u> to the <u>notice</u> provided, the sign is not removed by the sign owner within the prescribed period, the department shall immediately remove the sign without further notice; and, for that purpose, the employees, agent, or independent contractors of the department may enter upon private property without incurring liability for so entering.
- (c) For purposes of this subsection, a notice to the sign owner, when required, constitutes sufficient notice; and notice is not required to be provided to the lessee, advertiser, or the owner of the real property on which the sign is located.
- (d) If, after a hearing, it is determined that a sign has been wrongfully or erroneously removed pursuant to this subsection, the department, at the sign owner's discretion, shall either pay just compensation to the owner of the sign or reerect the sign in kind at the expense of the department.

Subsection 1 clearly deals with the summary removal of signs. Subsection (1)(a) indicates it is the Department itself which determines whether the sign violates the statute, posts the notice, gives notice to the owner, and requires the notice to provide for a right to a hearing, but indicates the removal will occur regardless of the request for a hearing.

Subsection b provides "pursuant to the notice provided, the sign is not removed by the sign owner within the prescribed period, the department shall immediately remove the sign without further notice;". Subsection b does not leave room to infer that if you delete the last sentence in (a) then (b) means that should someone receive notice and timely request a hearing pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, that the Department will not remove the sign.

Subsection d is tied clearly to the predetermination takedown powers set forth in (a).

With Subsections a, b, and d being unconstitutionally defective on their face, subsection c standing alone has no

effect.

The Department suggests to delete the last sentence of (a), all of (b) and all of (d) and it would continue to have authority to control unpermitted signs as under the former law. This position is different from the one taken by the DEPARTMENT in the proceedings below. (R: 338-354)

Appellees suggest they would have no objection to the new position of the DEPARTMENT if this Court determines it meets the statutory severability test.

CONCLUSION

The Department has changed its position on appeal from the one taken below. There is no suggestion that Chapter is constitutional on its face Florida Statutes, and the Appellees agree. Point I of the Department rests on the fact that the Appellees did not establish a property right in a permit and the Record shows this issue remains to be litigated. Point II of the Department assumes the Appellees position is correct but suggests a predetermination takedown is authorized under the circumstances and Point III suggests pertinent portions of the statute that would still provide the Appellees with the relief requested.

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